FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/10/2019 12:45 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

97958-8

NO. 78248-7-I (consolidated with No 78405-6 and 78340-8)

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE AT SEATTLE

VLADEN R. MILOSAVLJEVIC,

Defendant/Appellant,

v.

MARGARET L. CURTIS, individually and as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Allen L. Curtis,

Plaintiff /Respondents.

PETITION FOR REIVEW

Law Offices of Edward P. Weigelt, Jr. Edward P. Weigelt, Jr. WSBA 12003 9222 36th Ave. SE. Everett, WA. 98208 (425) 346-1646 <u>eweigeltjr@msn.com</u> Counsel for Appellant Milosavljevic

A. INTRODUCTION
B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION
C. ISSUES PRESENTED ON REVIEW
D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANT8
1. The Supreme Court Should Accept Review Because This Case Allows the Court to Elaborate On The Nature Of Benefits Which Support Unjust Enrichment
2. The Supreme Court Should Accept Review Because It Provides The Court An Opportunity To Clarify The Interplay Between Various Equitable Remedies and Piercing The Corporate Veil
3. The Court of Appeals Should Accept This Case To Do Justice or to Remand to the Trial Court
F. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases

Bailie Commc'ns, Ltd. v. Trend Bus. Sys., Inc., <u>61 Wn. App. 151</u> , 160, 810 P.2d 12 (1991)11
Cultum v. Heritage House Realtors, Inc., 103 Wn.2d 623, 633, 694 P.2d 630 (1985
Family Med. Bldg., Inc. v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs., 37 Wn.App. 662, 670, 684 P.2d 77 (1984), aff'd, 104 Wn.2d 105, 702 P.2d 459 (1985
Farwest Steel Corp. v. Mainline Metal Works, Inc., 48 Wn.App. 719, 732, 741 P.2d 58. (1987
Frigidaire Sales Corp. v. Union Properties, Inc., supra 88 Wash.2d at 404, 562 P.2d 244 (1977)17
Harrison v. Puga, 4 Wn.App. 52, 480 P.2d 247, (Div. 1 1971)
Just Dirt, Inc. v. Knight Excavating, Inc., 138 Wn. App. 409, 416, 157 P.3d 431 (2007);
Losli v. Foster, 37 Wn.2d 220, 222 P.2d 824, (1950)9
Meisel v. M & N Modern Hydraulic Press Co., 97 Wn.2d 403, 410, 645 P.2d 689 (198215
Morgan v. Burks, 93 Wash.2d 580, 611 P.2d 751 (1980)17
Peoples Nat'l Bank of Washington v. Birney's Enterprises. Inc., 54 Wn. App. 668, 775 P.2d 466 (198920
Rasor v. Retail Credit Co., 87 Wn.2d 516, 554, P.2d 1041 (197620
Rosenthal v. Tacoma, 31 Wash.2d 32, 195 P.2d 102. (1948)9
Shelden v. Dep't of Licensing, 68 Wn. App. 681, 685, 845 P.2d 341 (199319
Truckweld Equip. Co. v. Olson. 26 Wn.App. 638, 645, 618 P.2d 1017(1980

Wash. Water Jet Workers Ass'n v. Yarbrough, 151 Wn.2d 470, 90 P.3d 42 (2004), cert. denied, 543 U.S. 1120 (2005);
Young v. Young, 164 Wn.2d 477, 191 P.3d 1258, (2008
Other Jurisdictions
Costanzo v. Lawrence, 64 Wn. 2d 901 395 P.2d 93 (1964)
<i>HPI Health Care Servs., Inc. v. Mt. Vernon Hosp., Inc.,</i> 131 Ill.2d 145, 137 Ill.Dec. 19, 545 N.E.2d 672, 679 (1989)
Knight v. Burns, 22 Ohio App. 482, 154 N.E. 345 (1926)17
Lawrence Warehouse Co. v. Twohig, 224 F.2d 493, 498 (8th Cir.1955)
Paschall's, Inc., v. Dozier 407 S.W.2d 150, (1966)12
State ex rel. Palmer v. Unisys Corp., 637 N.W.2d 142 (Iowa 2001) 12
<u>Statutes</u>
RCW 5.60.030
Other Authorities
Restatement of Restitution, Quasi Contracts and Constructive Trusts. § 155(1) (1937
APPENDIX
Exhibit 1 Court of Appeal's Decision
Exhibit 2 Court of Appeal's Order Denying Reconsideration
Exhibit 3 Trial Court's Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law
Exhibit 4. Loan Agreement.

A. INTRODUCTION

In October, 2011 the Petitioner Vladen Milosavljevic ("Milosavljevic) borrowed \$1,400,000 from the Respondents Margaret Curtis and Alan Curtis ("Curtis"). Milosavljevic and Curtis regarded themselves as family and had engaged in informal business relations for over 15 years. The October 2011 loan was evidenced by a very simple two sentence Loan Agreement which specified that certain real property was Milosavljevic's "personal guarantee" of his repayment of the loan. (The property was referenced by physical description, tax parcel number and legal description.)

At the time of the loan, it was the parties' intent and understanding for Milosavljevic to develop the property and build homes on the finished lots. The loan was to be repaid from the sale proceeds of the finished lots. At the time of the loan it was left open whether the Curtis' would also finance the construction of the homes and share in the profits.

At the time of the loan Milosavljevic also promised to convey the property to Curtiss if they requested or wanted payment prior to completion of the development or the sale of the property. This was to be in repayment of the loan. This was his "personal guarantee" referenced in the Loan Agreement (RP 274: 24-25, RP 275: 1-25). RP 276 12-25, RP 277, RP 278). Milosavljevic started the development process to develop the property shortly after borrowing the money.

In March 2013 Milosavljevic formed Hidden Creek II, LLC, and conveyed the property to it. In forming the LLC Milosavljevic: (a) named the Curtises as its sole members and managers; (b) paid 100% of the formation costs and fees. Thereafter Milosavljevic developed the property and paid 100% of the development costs (\$434,526.96). Over the ensuing two (2) years Milosavljevic spent over 2000 man hours doing virtually all of the physical labor needed to develop the property. He was not paid by the Curtises or the LLC or anyone else. The LLC was never capitalized by Curtises. They never contributed or loaned any money to the LLC.

In late 2015 Mr. Allen Curtis died. His surviving spouse, Margaret Curtisss, did not want to proceed with the construction of the homes on the property and requested that the property be sold. Milosavljevic found a buyer of the property. The Curtises then the sold the property and kept all of the loan proceeds for themselves. Curtis also refused to give Milosavljevic any credit against his loan obligations. The property was his "personal guarantee" of payment and conveyed to Curtis for this reason. The trial court awarded Milosavljevic credit for the land and hard costs.

The trial court's decision to allow credits, which the court applied against the loan application as payments, was clear. Conclusion 6 expressly states that Milosavljevic was entitled to a credit for the land and hard costs paid by him. The trial court incorporated spreadsheets itemizing Milosavljevic's payment of expenses into this Conclusion. The spreadsheet are findings of the application of Milosavljevic's payments

which were then applied against accrued interest and then reduction of principle.

The trial court's legal theory for its conclusions is not perfectly clear and, in part, limited by the scope of evidence admitted at trial because of the application of the Deadman's statute. In the oral decision the trial court noted that Hidden Creek II, LLC was the Curtis' agent to receive the property and payments made by Milosavljevic. (At issue is trial court's Conclusion 6 (CP 449-450.)

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and concluded that Milosavljevic was not entitled to any credits because the property was conveyed to Hidden Creek II, LLC.

Petitioner asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision which reversed the trial court's decision awarding Milosavljevic a credit for the value of the property and payment of costs against his loan obligations (Decision Appendix B). At issue is credit for the property (\$550,000) and Milosavljevic's payment of expenses ((\$434,526.96). If review is accepted, Milosavljevic would also request credit for the value of his 2000 plus man hours of personal services working on the property.

This case is an important case for the Supreme Court to review because of the broader issues it raises in the context of the nature of direct and indirect benefits which support equitable relief under unjust enrichment, quantum merit, and recognizing the liability of an owner of a company when the company is paid or receives benefits at the owners request, and/or with the owner's consent, authorization or acquiesces. Because of the applicable of the Deadman's Statute (RCW 5.60.030) which limited evidence, this case centers on equitable relief.

B. COURT OF APPEAL'S DECISOIN.

The Court of Appeal filed its opinion in this case on October 2019. A copy of the opinion is in the appendix at Appendix Exhibit 1. The court then denied Milosavljevic's Motion for Reconsideration on November 12, 2019. A copy of the order denying reconsideration is in the Appendix as Exhibit 2. (The trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusion of Law, Conclusion 6 (CP 449-450) are also attached as Exhibit 3, and the Loan Agreement are attached as Exhibit 4.)

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- 1. Did the Court of Appeal error in reversing the trial court's conclusion awarding Milosavljevic credit for his conveyance of the property and payment of the hard development costs which were applied in reduction of the loan obligations.
- 2. Did the Court of Appeal error in concluding that Milosavljevic's conveyance of the property, payment of development costs, and LLC formation did not benefit the Curtises who were the LLC's sole members and to whom the LLC's income is distributed.
- 3. Did the Court of Appeal error in concluding that a sole owner/member of a limited liability company does not receive either a direct or indirect benefit when the company is never capitalized and the

member knew or should have known that the property was conveyed and costs paid with the expectation of such being credited against loan obligations owed to the member personally.

4 Did the Court of Appeal error by not remanding the case to the trial court to clarify the basis of its conclusion that Milosavljevic was entitled to a credit as a payment against his loan obligations for the property (\$550,000) and payment of expenses (\$434, 526.96).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

The Court of Appeals' factual discussion is superficially accurate but omits key factd pertaining to the Loan Agreement that the property was Milosavljevic's "personal guarantee" and the intended means by both parties for him to re-pay the loan obligation (Loan Agreement, Ex. D).

The initial effect of the Court of Appeal's decision was to change the amount of damages awarded to the Curtises under the Loan Agreement as computed in Conclusion of Law No. 6. At issue in this case is nearly \$1,000,000 in the form of real property and payment of expenses to develop the property—all paid by Milosavljevic, plus over 2000 man hours of his time spanning over two years—he worked full time on this project.

There was a family type relation between the parties and all was fine until Mr. Curtis died.

Critical to understanding this case is the overall inequitable result of the Court of Appeal's opinion is the actual relation between the parties (they regarded each other as family) and had informal business relations for over 15 years (RP 205: 2-4). Their business relations had historically been on a "hand shake" basis with little or no paperwork. Prior to Allen Curtiss' death, there were not any disputes between the parties regarding their agreements or repayment of the loan (RP 205: 23-25, RP 206: 1-3) (RP 201: 15-25; RP 202:1-25: RP 203). The present lawsuit was brought nearly six (6) years after the loan was made.

In material part the purpose of the loan was to finance the development of the property. The Curtises disbursed \$800,000 of the loan proceeds to an account used by Milosavljevic for this purpose. Later, as the development progressed, the loan proceeds were in fact used by Milosavljevic to pay the hard development costs and for draws to himself to live on while working on the development full time.

When the loan was made, and thereafter, there was no dispute over how the loan was to be repaid. The property would need to be developed and sold. If the Curtises wanted to be paid back prior to building and selling the homes, then Appellant agreed to convey the developed property to them as payment in full. This was his "personal guarantee." (RP 274: 24-25, RP 275: 1-25). RP 276 12-25, RP 277, RP 278)

After 2011 through early 2017 Milosavljevic paid all expenses, and provided personal services and equipment to develop the real property. He formed the LLC (Exhibits 117. 118, 119, 121). He did most of the physical work (RP 227: 8-11). He was not paid by the LLC or anyone else (RP 229: 2-25; RPW 230; 1-25). He worked full time, 6 days a week on this project

in 2013 and 2014 and thereafter continued work as needed in 2015 and into 2016. (RP 279). Overall he expended more than 2000 man hours on the development (RP 279 18-21). His hourly rate was \$160.00 (RP 280: 1-3). (Milosavljevic is a professional developer and builder of upscale homes. He had built over 300 homes.)

The Curtises paid nothing. They never capitalized the company. The LLC had no funds, and no other assets. It was a single asset LLC with the Hidden Creek property being its only asset. It did not have any funds to buy the land nor to pay any expenses, nor to compensate Milosavljevic for his services and equipment, nor to even pay the property taxes.

In 2017, when the development was about 97% done, Mrs. Curtis advised Milosavljevic that she did not want to proceed with the next phase of building homes and wanted the property sold. Milosavljevic found a buyer who ultimately purchased the property. Milosavljevic was not paid anything.

Milosavljevic testified that it was the parties' original intent and agreement on October 3, 2011 when the Loan Agreement was signed that he would sell the property to pay the Curtises or, if they requested, would convey it to them as payment against the loan. This was the meaning of his "personal guarantee" in the Loan Agreement. Mrs. Curtis testified that the Loan Agreement was not complete regarding payment, however, it was always their intent to pay Milosavljevic for his services and to treat him fairly. Her testimony included:

Q. Okay. Does Exhibit Number 1 or 113 [the Loan Agreement] represent the complete agreement between the parties at the time it was signed.

A. No.

RP at 151, ln 16-20.

Q. Was it your expectation that when Milo worked for you that he would be compensated for the services he performed?

A. Yes.

RP 179 lines 21-24, objection overruled 180 Lines 4-6

Q. It was your expectation that he would be paid; is that right?

A. Yes.

Rp 180- lines 7-9

Conclusion 6 (CP 449-450) incorporates the schedule of development costs paid by Appellant and refers to these as "credits" which encompasses payment. This was his "personal guarantee." (RP 274: 24-25, RP 275: 1-25). RP 276 12-25, RP 277, RP 278)

There were no findings or conclusions that the Milosavljevic's conveyance of the property or payment of development expenses were "gifts" or that he was a volunteer.

Because of the Deadman's Statute (RCW 5.60.030) the trial court did not allow or admit any evidence of the parties' conversations, agreements or transaction other than what occurred on October 3, 2011. This lawsuit was filed on the eve of the statute of limitations nearly six years later.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

The trial court's decision, while unclear was based on her belief that Hidden Creek was the Curtis' agent to receive the property, and that the Curtises clearly benefited from the conveyance of the property and its development by Milosavljevic. Its decision was also well founded in equity.

The trial court's decision giving Milosavljevic credits can be affirmed on the basis of unjust enrichment, an implied agreement at law or quantum merit, and piercing a corporate veil. Matters in equity are reviewed de novo. A trial court's decision is to be affirmed if the decision can soundly rest on any ground. *Rosenthal v. Tacoma*, 31 Wash.2d 32, 195 P.2d 102. (1948); *Losli v. Foster*, 37 Wn.2d 220, 222 P.2d 824, (1950).

The evidence in this case was sparse due to the application of the Deadman's Statute, RCW 5.60.030. The trial court did not allow testimony as to the parties' conversations or agreements which involved Alan Curtis, with the exception of conversations on October 3, 2011. Given this restriction the court looked toward implied agreements and equity. The trial judge regarded Hidden Creek to be the Curtis' agent, although this was stated only in her oral decision.

1. The Supreme Court Should Accept Review Because This Case Allows the Court to Elaborate On The Nature Of Benefits Which Support Unjust Enrichment.

This court should accept review in order to clarify and elaborate on the nature of benefits which are or could be the basis of unjust enrichment. The effect of the Court of Appeal's decision is that Milosavljevic has never been paid or received any compensation for the property, expenses, services or equipment. However, the Curtises received a 1.4 million dollar benefit for free. The fact that the property was conveyed to the LLC formed by Milosavljevic for the Curtis's benefit does not change this. This benefit is even recognized by federal tax regulations which impose taxes on the member of a single member LLC since it is a pass through entity and the sole member is the one who receives the benefits.

On a rudimentary accounting asset basis the LLC had no value before the conveyance, and \$550,000 afterward; and its value increases as the property is developed and Milosavljevic pays all of the development costs of over \$434,000, and increases for the value of his services. Upon completion the property was worth 1.4 million or more The benefit to Curtis was an asset whose value went from -0- to 1.4 million dollars because of Milosavljevic, conveyance of the property itself, payment of expenses, and its development.

In Family Med. Bldg., Inc. v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs., 37 Wn.App. 662, 670, 684 P.2d 77 (1984), aff'd, 104 Wn.2d 105, 702 P.2d 459 (1985) the Court of Appeal concluded that a person confers a 'benefit' upon another if he performs services beneficial to or at the request of the other, or in any way adds to his security or advantage.'' The present case allows the Supreme Court to add clarification as to what "benefit"

means and when it is inequitable for another to retain benefits when the benefit provider is never compensated. This is important because the The Court of Appeal's decision effectively undermines the very historical purpose and basis of unjust enrichment and lays a foundation for future decisions to limit its application.

Historically, an underlying principle of the doctrine of unjust enrichment is that a party who receives a benefit that he or she desires, under circumstances rendering retention of the benefit without providing compensation inequitable, must compensate the provider of the benefit. *Young v. Young*, 164 Wn.2d 477, 191 P.3d 1258, (2008). The obligation to repay the debt or disgorge the value of the received benefit focuses on the receiver of the benefit, not on the provider of the benefit. See Restatement of Restitution, Quasi Contracts and Constructive Trusts. § 155(1) (1937).

In *Young v. Young*, Id. the Supreme Court held that unjust enrichment is the method of recovery for the value of the benefit retained absent any contractual relationship because notions of fairness and justice requ*ire it. See Bailie Commc'ns, Ltd. v. Trend Bus. Sys., Inc.*, 61 Wn. App. 151, 160, 810 P.2d 12 (1991). "Unjust enrichment occurs when one retains money or benefits which in justice and equity belong to another." Id. Justice and equity is the province of the trial court. In the context of the present case, the trial court's decision of awarding a credit falls within the underlying principles of unjust enrichment.

Historically the concept of a benefit has been construed liberally. *Family Med. Bldg., Inc. v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs.*, 37 Wn.App. 662, 670, 684 P.2d 77 (1984), aff'd, 104 Wn.2d 105, 702 P.2d 459 (1985). The language adding to "his security or advantage" connotes a broad range of benefits.

The scope of benefits should thus include both direct and indirect benefits. Washington has not clearly addressed the concept of indirect benefits. However, courts in other jurisdiction has embraced a policy that "benefits" include both direct and indirect benefits. For example, in *Paschall's, Inc.*, v. Dozier 407 S.W.2d 150, (1966) the court concluded that the plaintiff could recover **for** *any* **benefit** if the defendant's retention of the benefit would be unjust. Id. at 154. *See, also*, *Hirsch* v. *Bank* of *Am.*, 107 Cal.App.4th 708, 132 Cal.Rptr.2d 220, 229 (2003) (holding that to confer a benefit, the plaintiff need not pay the money directly to the defendant); *HPI Health Care Servs., Inc.* v. *Mt. Vernon Hosp., Inc.*, 131 Ill.2d 145, 137 Ill.Dec. 19, 545 N.E.2d 672, 679 (1989); *State ex rel. Palmer* v. *Unisys Corp.*, 637 N.W.2d 142, 155 (Iowa 2001).

The Court of Appeals side steps the concept of benefits which are indirect, which Milosavljevic submits fall within the scope of those which provide "security or advantage." The Court of Appeals' decision thus sets a dangerous precedent for future cases. This is particularly true where the interplay between alternative equitable remedies, such as unjust enrichment and quantum merit, is often confusing.

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