FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/12/2019 3:46 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 97958-8 COA No. 78248-7-I (consolidated with No 78405-6 and 78340-8)

Supreme Court of the State of Washington

Vladen R. Milosavljevic,

Defendant/Appellant,

v.

Margaret L. Curtis, individually and as the Personal Representative of the Estate of Allen L. Curtis,

Plaintiff/Respondents.

Answer to Petition for Review and Cross-Petition for Review

Rodney T. Harmon P.O. Box 1066 Bothell, WA 98041 (425) 402-7800 rodharmon@msn.com

Attorney for Margaret L. Curtis

Contents

I. Identity of Cross-petitioner1
II. Facts Relevant to Petitioner's Issues
III. Reasons for Denying Review2

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

III. Reasons for Denying Review.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case is consistent with the decisions of both the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4 (b)(1) & (2), nor does the petition raise an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4 (b)(4).

A. The court need not review the issue of whether to disregard the LLC form in the absence of a finding of abuse of that form.

The legislature and the courts have long recognized the importance to our commercial life of limited liability for corporate shareholders and limited liability company members. The rules for piercing the corporate veil are applied to both corporations and limited liability companies. RCW 25.15.061. As this court explained in *Grayson v. Nordic Const. Co., Inc*, "[a] corporation exists as an organization distinct from the personality of its

¹The Kenmore parcel was an undeveloped 2½ acre parcel of land in Kenmore, Washington. FOF 12.

shareholders."² "[A] corporation's separate legal identity is not lost merely because all of its stock is held by members of a single family or by one person."³.

This court has consistently held that to pierce the veil of a limited liability company so that liability can attach to a member, a plaintiff must show that the LLC form was intentionally used to violate or evade a duty and that the LLC form must be disregarded to prevent unjustified loss to the injured party.⁴ "Intentional misconduct must be the cause of the harm that is avoided by disregard." ⁵ "[T]he court must find an abuse of the corporate form."

And the separate existence of a corporation should not be disregarded solely because its assets are not sufficient to discharge its obligations.⁷ As this court has explained:

Separate corporate entities should not be disregarded solely

² Grayson v. Nordic Const. Co., Inc., 92 Wn.2d 548, 552, 599 P.2d 1271 (1979).

³ *Id.* at 553.

⁴ Chadwick Farms Owners Ass'n v. FHC LLC, 166 Wn.2d 178, 201, 207 P.3d 1251 (2009); *Meisel v. M & N Modern Hydraulic Press Co.*, 97 Wn.2d 403, 409-10, 645 P.2d 689 (1982).

⁵ *Id*

⁶ Meisel v. M & N Modern Hydraulic Press Co., 97 Wn.2d 403, 409-10, 645 P.2d 689 (1982).

⁷ *Id.* at 411 (1982); *Norhawk Invest., Inc. v. Subway Sandwich Shops, Inc.*, 61 Wn. App. 395, 399-400, 811 P.2d 221 (1991).

because one cannot meet its obligations. ... The absence of an adequate remedy alone does not establish corporate misconduct. The purpose of a corporation is to limit liability. Unless we are willing to say fulfilling that purpose is misconduct, Meisel is hard put to argue a theory of corporate disregard. 8

The party seeking to pierce the veil must "demonstrate that the corporate form was used to violate or evade a duty." 9

The trial court did not enter a finding of fact that an abuse of the LLC form occurred. In order to abuse the LLC form, one has to be in control of the LLC. The trial court found just the opposite. Curtis was not in control of the LLC. ¹⁰ FOF 3. Milosavljevic was the sole manager and therefore the only one in control of the LLC. RCW 25.15.154 *Id*. Milosavljevic quotes the trial court's oral ruling that Curtis, who was solely a member, was an agent of the LLC. This is contrary to RCW 25.15.154 (2)(b), which provides: "No member, acting solely in its capacity as a member, is an agent of the limited liability company."

The party alleging abuse of the LLC form bears the burden of proof. 11 It is well-established that the absence of a finding of fact in favor

⁸ *Meisel*, 97 Wn.2d at 411 (citations omitted).

⁹ Washington Water Jet Workers Ass'n v. Yarbrough, 151 Wn.2d 470, 503, 90 P.3d 42 (2004).

¹⁰ "Vladan R. Milosavljevic was the sole manager of Hidden Creek II, LLC from its formation until 2017." FOF 3.

¹¹ Jet Boats, Inc. v. Puget Sound Nat'l Bank, 44 Wn. App. 32, 46, 721 P.2d 18 (1986).

of the party with the burden of proof about a disputed issue is the equivalent of a finding against that party on that issue.¹² Milosavljevic asks the court to imply favorable findings of fact on an issue for which he had the burden of proof. He cites no evidence supporting a finding of abuse of the LLC form. R 52 requires written findings of fact. CR 52(a)(1). The presumption should be a negative finding.

B. The court need not consider the issue of whether to disregard the LLC form in every claim of unjust enrichment.

"Unjust enrichment is the method of recovery for the value of the benefit retained absent any contractual relationship because notions of fairness and justice require it." The elements of a "contract implied in law" are: (1) the defendant receives a benefit, (2) the received benefit is at the plaintiff's expense, and (3) the circumstances make it unjust for the defendant to retain the benefit without payment. In such situations a quasi contract is said to exist between the parties." Id. The law implies a debt as if it were upon a contract. Id.

Milosavljevic argues that he gave value for which he should, in justice, be fairly compensated. The Court of Appeals correctly decided that

<sup>Ellerman v. Centerpoint Prepress, Inc., 143 Wn.2d 514, 524, 22 P.3d 795 (2001); Smith v. King, 106 Wash.2d 443, 451, 722 P.2d 796 (1986);
Golberg v. Sanglier, 96 Wash.2d 874, 880, 639 P.2d 1347 (1982).</sup>

¹³ *Young v. Young*, 164 Wn. 2d 477, ¶ 15, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008) (quoting *Bailie Commc'ns, Ltd. v. Trend Bus. Sys., Inc.*, 61 Wn. App. 151, 160, 810 P.2d 12 (1991)).

¹⁴ Young v. Young, 164 Wn. 2d 477, ¶ 16, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008).

his unjust enrichment claim is against Hidden Creek II, LLC, to which he conveyed the land and for which he provided his labor and materials. Since his claim is not against Curtis, it cannot be offset against a judgment in favor of Curtis. The court of appeals held that the findings of fact and evidence did not justify piercing the LLC veil to hold the LLC member liable for the LLC's debt.

Milosavljevic's argument is essentially that fulfilling the corporate purpose to limit liability is misconduct when a corporate entity is unjustly enriched. He argues in effect that a claim of unjust enrichment against a corporate entity *always* pierces the veil. The result would be a rule that shareholders or members are always personally liable for their entity's unjust enrichment.

At note 10, the court of appeals held that one "cannot use the theory of unjust enrichment to circumvent the protections of the LLC form," citing three federal cases in support. 15

Milosavljevic relies heavily upon court of appeals' 1971 decision in Harrison v. Puga. 16 His reliance is misplaced. In that case, Harrison and

McKesson HBOC, Inc. v. New York State Common Retirement Fund, Inc.,
 339 F.3d 1087, 1093-1096 (9th Cir. 2003); QVC, Inc. v. OurHouseWorks,
 LLC, 649 Fed. Appx. 223, 228 (3d Cir. 2016); North Am. Steel Connection,
 Inc. v. Watson Metal Prods, Corp., 515 Fed. Appx. 176, 179-181 (3d Cir. 2013).

¹⁶ Harrison v. Puga, 4 Wn. App. 52, 480 P.2d 247 (1971).

Puga formed a corporation to which Harrison contributed funds and Puga contributed assets. Puga controlled the corporation, and he used corporate funds to purchase assets in his own name. Harrison sued both the corporation and Puga, seeking the return of his contributed funds on the basis of unjust enrichment. The court of appeals allowed Harrison's claim against Puga because Puga engaged in wrongdoing. In a later case, this court explained the *Harrison* court's reasoning: "the liable corporation has been "gutted" and left without funds by those controlling it in order to avoid actual or potential liability."¹⁷

Harrison contributed money to the corporation and brought an unjust enrichment claim against both the corporation and Puga personally to recover his contribution. Petitioner likens his position with Hidden Creek to that of Harrison and the position of Curtis to that of Puga. But in terms of control, the parties' positions in the present case are the reverse of those in *Harrison v. Puga*. Unlike Harrison, Milosavljevic controlled the company. Unlike Puga, Curtis had no control over the company. And unlike Puga, there is no evidence or finding that Curtis engaged in intentional wrongdoing. Because of this crucial factual difference, *Curtis* is consistent with *Harrison* and *Morgan*. Therefore this case does not merit review by the supreme court under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) & (2).

¹⁷ Morgan v. Burks, 93 Wn.2d 580, 585, 611 P.2d 751 (1980).

C. The court need not consider whether to disregard the LLC form just because it has a single member.

Milosavljevic asks the court to consider whether the LLC form should always be disregarded if the LLC has only one member. His reason is that a single member is benefitted by the enrichment of the LLC. This is of course true, whether the enrichment is just or unjust. And it is true regardless of the number of LLC members. Those who own an artificial entity are enriched whenever the entity is enriched. So the logical extension of Milosavljevic's argument is that whenever an LLC is unjustly enriched, all LLC members are personally liable.

What Milosavljevic proposes would radically depart from existing corporate disregard doctrine because it would not require intentional wrongdoing by the personally liable member. And it would require this court to overrule its holding in *Grayson v. Nordic Const. Co., Inc.* ¹⁸ that "a corporation's separate legal identity is not lost merely because all of its stock is held by members of a single family or by one person." See RCW 25.15.061 (applying corporate disregard rules to LLCs). And, since unjust enrichment is an action on an implied contract, the rule advocated by Milosavljevic would logically mean that the LLC form should be disregarded when the action is on an express contract. The rule is limited liability for LLC members. Milosavljevic asks the court to consider an exception that would logically consume the rule. The court should leave its corporate disregard doctrine intact.

¹⁸ Grayson v. Nordic Const. Co., Inc, 92 Wn.2d at 553.

D. Milosavljevic had an adequate remedy.

Milosavljevic could have joined a claim against Hidden Creek II, LLC in this case. Early in this action, Hidden Creek II, LLC was a defendant.

CP 1. It was dismissed by stipulation on July 12, 2017. CP 24-28. The stipulation provided in part:

9. The dismissal of Hidden Creek and order quieting title is without prejudice with respect to claims or possible claims that the Defendants have or may have for reimbursement or credit for monies expended, and/or their services, if any, related to the platting and improvement of the property described above, including but not limited to reimbursement and/or credit from the Plaintiffs for monies paid for permits, bonds, surveying, engineering, development fees, development, investigation reports, and site improvements, including above and underground utilities, connection or hookup fees. This is a disputed matter. All claims related to this matter are reserved notwithstanding the order quieting title of dismissal.

CP 25. Milosavljevic never joined a third party claim against Hidden Creek II, LLC.¹⁹ He could have done so. That was his remedy.

IV. Additional Issues for Review.

1. Milosavljevic conveyed the Kenmore parcel to Hidden Creek II, LLC, and advanced labor and expenses developing that parcel. Did this constitute payment of a pre-October 2011 debt owed to Curtis?

a. When a debtor owing multiple debts to a creditor makes an unallocated payment, is the payment applied to the oldest debt even if enforcing that debt is legally barred by a discharge in bankruptcy?

9

¹⁹ In July 2017, Hidden Creek II, LLC still owned the Kenmore parcel, which it sold for \$1,450,000 in January 2018. Ex. 38.

b. When an order of discharge is entered in an individual chapter 11 bankruptcy, does it just discharge pre-confirmation debts or does it also discharge the debtor's obligations under the confirmed reorganization plan?

V. Argument for Review of Additional Issues

A. Facts Relevant to Additional Issues.

Curtis loaned Milosavljevic \$2,059,615.59 and he signed a note promising to repay the loan at 12 % interest on June 19, 2005. Ex. 22, p. 7. When Milosavljevic filed bankruptcy in 2010, Curtis filed a claim for \$3,259,615.59. FOF 8. Under his chapter 11 plan, Milosavljevic paid Curtis \$1,401,155.14 and he agreed to give Curtis a deed of trust on the Kenmore parcel to secure the \$1.8 million unpaid balance. FOF 10. Milosavljevic represented the Kenmore parcel to be worth \$2.2 million. Ex. 25, p. 13. The property was actually worth only \$550,000 and Milosavljevic never granted the deed of trust. FOF 11, 18.

Under the chapter 11 plan, Milosavljevic would have granted the deed of trust and worked to develop the property. Instead, he formed Hidden Creek II, LLC, conveyed the Kenmore parcel to it, and, as the manager of the LLC, worked to develop the property. He named Allen and Margaret Curtis as the sole members of the LLC.

B. Under Washington law, is a payment allocable to an older debt even if enforcement of that debt is barred by a discharge in bankruptcy?

It is Curtis' contention that the creation of Hidden Creek II, LLC, the conveyance of the Kenmore parcel to it, and Milosavljevic's advancement of labor and expenses, are all allocable to payment of his debt to Curtis under the chapter 11 plan.

It is well established that if, at the time of payment, a debtor owing several accounts to his creditor provides no specific direction as to how the payment is to be applied or allocated among those accounts, the right belongs to the creditor until the account is settled or suit is brought. If a debtor gives no direction and the creditor makes no timely application to any particular account, the law will apply any payments to the oldest accounts.²⁰

Even if the older debt is barred, the payment is still allocated to the older debt if the debtor gives no direction as to how the payment is to be applied and the creditor makes no timely application to any particular account.²¹ The *Knight* court adopted the Restatement of Contracts § 387, Illustration 8 (1932), which provides:

8. A owes B two debts, one of which is barred by the Statute of Limitations. A makes a payment without manifesting any

11

<sup>Yancovich v. Cavanaugh Lumber Co., Inc., 20 Wn. App. 347, 349–50,
P.2d 1057 (1978), citing Bellingham Sec. Syndicate, Inc. v. Bellingham Coal Mines, Inc., 13 Wn.2d 370, 125 P.2d 668 (1942); Whiting v. Rubinstein, 10 Wn.2d 5, 116 P.2d 305 (1941); Diettrich Bros., Inc. v. Anderson, 183 Wn. 574, 48 P.2d 921 (1935); and Sturtevant Co. v. Fidelity & Deposit Co., 92 Wn. 52, 158 P. 740 (1916).</sup>

²¹ Knight v. Freimuth, 13 Wn. App. 112, 115–16, 533 P.2d 423 (1975).

intent that it shall be applied to one rather than the other. The payment is insufficient fully to satisfy either debt. B can apply the payment in whole or in part to the barred debt; But if the debt is not fully paid thereby, the bar of the Statute is not removed as to the remainder.²²

A debt is not extinguished by the expiration of the statute of limitations on its remedy for enforcement of the contract, but merely made unenforceable in court."²³

A debt discharged in bankruptcy is likewise not extinguished. "A debtor may voluntarily repay a discharged debt.²⁴ A discharge in bankruptcy only operates as an injunction against the collection of a debt as a personal liability of the debtor.²⁵ "[A] bankruptcy discharge extinguishes only one mode of enforcing a claim—namely, an action against the debtor *in personam*".²⁶

C. Under federal bankruptcy law, does a discharge in a chapter 11 bankruptcy case only discharge debts incurred before confirmation of the chapter 11 plan?

This court has held that it has the power to construe a bankruptcy

²² *Id*.

²³ CHD v. Boyles, 138 Wn. App. 131, 138, 157 P.3d 415 (2007); Jordan v. Bergsma, 63 Wn. App. 825, 828-29, 822 P.2d 319 (1992).

 $^{^{24}}$ 11 U.S.C. \S 524(f). In re Lopez, 274 B.R. 854, 860 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2002).

²⁵ 11 U.S.C. § 524(a).

²⁶ Johnson v. Home State Bank, 501 U.S. 78, 84, 111 S. Ct. 2150, 2154, 115 L. Ed. 2d 66 (1991).

discharge and determine whether a particular debt is or is not within the discharge.²⁷

The relevant bankruptcy provision is 11 U.S.C. § 1141(d), which states in part:

- (1) Except as otherwise provided in this subsection, in the plan, or in the order confirming the plan, the confirmation of a plan—
 - (A) discharges the debtor from any debt that arose before the date of such confirmation, and any debt of a kind specified in section 502(g), 502(h), or 502(i) of this title,
- (5) In a case in which the debtor is an individual—

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